Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Megan Taylor

____4/20/2022____ Date Identifying Gaps in the Zoonotic Disease Burden of Central America

By

Megan Taylor Master of Public Health

Hubert Department of Global Health

Kenneth G. Castro, MD Committee Chair

Grace Goryoka, MPH Committee Member Identifying Gaps in the Zoonotic Disease Burden of Central America

By

Megan Taylor B.S. Biology Georgia State University 2017

Thesis Committee Chair: Kenneth G. Castro, MD

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2022

Abstract

Identifying Gaps in the Zoonotic Disease Burden of Central America

By Megan Taylor

Background: CDC's One Health Zoonotic Disease Prioritization (OHZDP) Process brings together representatives from human, animal, and environmental health sectors to prioritize zoonotic diseases of greatest concern and to develop next steps to address these priorities. To prepare for these prioritizations, CDC's One Health Office maintains a global zoonotic disease burden database and is developing regional zoonotic disease burden databases to support locations conducting OHZDP workshops to have readily available data on zoonotic diseases and identify gaps in zoonotic disease burden in their region.

Objectives: The goal of this project was to develop a regional zoonotic disease burden database for Central America for use during CDC's OHZDP Process and to identify gaps in the zoonotic disease burden across Central America.

Methods: A list of zoonotic diseases was created by collating zoonotic disease lists from previous OHZDP workshops, along with reviewing recent zoonotic disease literature for Central America in PubMed and Scopus. CDC's One Health Office's Excel[™]-based global zoonotic disease burden database was adapted for Central America. A structured data and literature review were conducted for zoonotic disease impacts on humans and animals in the region. Information collected, including data gaps, was assessed, and summarized and profiles for each country in the region were developed.

Results: The database included data on 45 zoonotic diseases in Central America. Data was identified for 387 of 2,160 cells (18%). Most data were found from GIDEON, PAHO, ProMed and GHDx. Human prevalence and incidence data made up most of the database, along with human mortality data.

Discussion: Due to the lack of data identified publicly, it was difficult to assess the zoonotic disease burden across the Central America region. Human surveillance data for some zoonotic diseases are being published publicly on a routine basis; however, there was limited information publicly available on the animal health side. To effectively prepare for OHZDP workshops in the region, it is imperative to collaborate with human, animal, and environmental health ministries to incorporate additional data into these databases for a more complete assessment of zoonotic disease burden in the region.

Identifying Gaps in the Zoonotic Disease Burden of Central America

By

Megan Taylor B.S. Biology Georgia State University 2017

Thesis Committee Chair: Kenneth G. Castro, MD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Global Health 2022

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who supported me throughout my thesis journey. I am especially thankful for the time and consideration from my thesis committee.

I want to thank my thesis committee chair, Dr. Kenneth Castro, for accepting to be my thesis advisor. I greatly appreciate his assistance throughout my thesis process.

I am deeply grateful to Grace Goryoka of the CDC One Health Office for her mentorship and encouragement throughout this project. I could not have completed this thesis without her guidance.

Lastly, I would like to thank my friends and family for their love and support throughout my Master's program. I would not be where I am today without them.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction

Zoonotic Disease Overview	1-2
Zoonotic Disease Impact	
One Health	
CDC One Health Office	
CDC One Health Zoonotic Disease Prioritization	5-6
Project Purpose	6

2. Methods

Zoonotic Disease Selection	7
Database Development	7
Data and Literature Review	
Sample Search Strings	
Citing Data Available	
Country Vignettes	
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

3. Results

Zoonotic Diseases Included for Central America	10-11
Central America Zoonotic Disease Burden Database	12-16
Literature Searches	17

4. Discussion

Discussion of Results	
Recommendations	
Future of One Health in Central America	
References	
Appendix	
11	

Chapter 1: Introduction

Zoonotic Disease Overview

Zoonotic diseases are caused by pathogens that spread between animals and humans. There is a wide variety of pathogens that cause zoonotic diseases including bacteria, viruses, fungi, and parasites ¹. More than half of human pathogens are zoonotic in origin². Zoonoses contribute to human illnesses ranging from mild to severe and even fatal³. As globalization and the use of non-human animal products for food, agriculture, and trade increase, the human population is more vulnerable to the spread of zoonotic diseases.

Zoonotic diseases can be transmitted through direct or indirect contact. Direct contact often occurs through animal bites such as with rabies virus but can also occur through exposure to respiratory droplets in the case of avian influenza³. An example of indirect transmission is vector borne zoonoses like the Zika virus that can be spread through the bite of an infected mosquito. Zoonoses can also be transmitted to people through contaminated food or water. Foodborne zoonotic pathogens are usually introduced to humans due to improper handling of animals through lack of hygiene or eating undercooked meats³. Most zoonotic diseases are caused by bacteria and both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria can contribute to zoonotic infections³. In terms of viral zoonoses, RNA viruses are often more responsible for zoonotic infections, but DNA viruses are also the cause of some zoonotic diseases⁴.

Various animal species, including domestic and wild animals, have the potential to spread zoonotic diseases. In one study, it was found that on average 14%-62% of pet owners allow their dogs and cats on their beds, which is one risk factor that may further the emergence of zoonotic diseases^{5.} As the popularity of owning exotic pets along with common pets has increased, so has the risk of zoonotic infection³. The emergence of new zoonotic diseases as well as the re-

emergence of previous zoonoses, can also be due to the increased proximity of humans to animals, including wildlife; wild animals are a major source of pathogens that can cause emerging and re-emerging zoonotic diseases⁶. It has been estimated that 60.3% of emerging diseases are zoonotic and of those, 71.8% are from wildlife⁷. Infectious diseases can be easily transmitted from wild animals because they are so closely linked to humans, domestic animals, and the environment⁸. The loss of biodiversity and increase in globalization due to land-use change can contribute to the emergence of new zoonotic diseases⁹⁻¹¹.

Zoonotic Disease Impact

It is evident that zoonoses present a huge global disease burden. While additional efforts to quantify the burden of zoonotic diseases are needed, this burden has been evaluated through measurements such as disease incidence, prevalence, morbidity, mortality and economic cost¹². People who become ill from zoonotic disease infections may have to take time off from work which could prevent them from providing for their families leading to economic impacts³. Many bacterial zoonoses, like bartonellosis and campylobacteriosis, can result in chronic conditions which can increase medical expenditures¹³. There are also large economic losses that result from failure to control zoonotic diseases. In an analysis of six zoonotic disease outbreaks been prevented, the evaded costs would have been about \$6.7 billion per year¹⁴. The economic losses from zoonotic diseases often disproportionately affect developing countries. In the case of Echinococcosis, the yearly economic burden in developing countries is a loss of \$2 billion in livestock and 1.5 million human healthy life-years¹⁴.

Additionally, antimicrobial resistance is a major outcome of zoonotic diseases. Antimicrobials are used to treat diseases in both humans and animals, which can cause resistant pathogens to arise. Resistant pathogens can then be spread between animals and people and in turn increase resistant infections^{3,15}. Zoonotic diseases can also impact food security, since decreases in food supply due to the loss of livestock from zoonotic diseases influence human health and nutrition. This also has large financial consequences for farmers and can diminish international trade³. These financial consequences for farmers due to zoonotic disease outbreaks can also have large mental health impacts. During a 2003 avian flu epidemic in the Netherlands, one third of poultry farmers dealt with stress, fatigue, and depression and these conditions were more frequent among farmers than the general population¹⁶. A 2020 study found that frontline workers tasked with culling to control animal diseases in South Korea had high rates of depression and 74.5% showed evidence of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD)¹⁷.

Overall zoonotic diseases have a substantially negative impact on the global economy. Currently, the COVID-19 pandemic has contributed to enormous economic losses across all industries including health, travel, education, sports, entertainment, hospitality and finance¹⁸. The production of goods has been suspended on a global scale from potential decreases in raw materials which has greatly affected supply-chains¹⁹. According to the World Bank, most countries are expected to face COVID-19 related recessions and many people will have to deal with severe poverty²⁰. Preventing and controlling zoonotic disease threats is crucial due to their impacts on people, animals, and the environment.

One Health

During the 1800s, scientists noted the links between human and animal health. In 1964, Dr. Calvin Schwabe coined the term "One Medicine" to describe the similarities between human and animal medicine and the importance of cooperation between the fields to prevent diseases common to both disciplines. By 2007, the One Health approach was recommended at the International Ministerial Conference on Avian and Pandemic Influenza for countries to prepare for pandemics²¹. One Health is defined by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and the One Health Commission as "a collaborative, multisectoral, and trans-disciplinary approach - working at local, regional, national, and global levels - to achieve optimal health (and well-being) outcomes recognizing the interconnections between people, animals, plants and their shared environment"^{22,23}. Cooperation among these different disciplines will allow for better utilization of resources in the response to emerging and re-emerging pathogens, quantifying the zoonotic disease burden, and initiating effective disease prevention strategies. Implementing the One Health approach on a global scale is necessary to support zoonotic disease detection and response efforts to prevent further outbreaks, epidemics, and pandemics²⁴.

CDC One Health Office

The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) One Health Office is located within the National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases in Atlanta, Georgia, was established in 2009. CDC's One Health Office was the first formal office dedicated to One Health within the U.S. Government, the purpose of the One Health Office is to increase domestic and global knowledge of the concept of One Health and to protect the health of humans, animals, and the environment. The office collaborates with health partners across One Health sectors at the international level as well as within the United States. One Health Office staff have a notable working relationship with international organizations like the World Health Organization (WHO), World Organisation for Animal Health (OIE), and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO)²⁵.

The One Health Office is active in zoonotic disease education through the Zoonoses Education Coalition (ZEC), which is a public-private partnership to facilitate the dissemination of messages to the public to foster a better understanding of zoonotic disease risk and prevention when handling pets. After multiple outbreaks of influenza, the One Health Office played a role in the development of the Influenza and Zoonoses Education Among Youth in Agriculture program to promote zoonotic disease education in agricultural communities throughout rural areas of the United States. Additionally, the One Health Office develops guidance and recommendations for zoonotic disease prevention and control, in collaboration with many partners including the National Association of State Public Health Veterinarians (NASPHV).

The CDC One Health Office also works globally and domestically to develop tools and trainings to advance One Health. They also encourage the use of the One Health approach globally through its zoonotic disease prioritization process²⁶.

CDC One Health Zoonotic Disease Prioritization

The CDC One Health Office developed the One Health Zoonotic Disease Prioritization (OHZDP) Process in 2014 to support countries and regions to prioritize zoonotic diseases of greatest concern. The OHZDP process includes participants from human, animal, and environmental health sectors along with other representatives to promote collaboration among One Health partners in the specific region, country, or other areas. The aims of these workshops are to use a multisectoral approach to create a priority zoonotic disease list for the country or region and to determine the next steps to address those diseases²⁷.

The OHZDP workshops operate by identifying a group of voting members from across all One Health sectors so that there is equal representation in determining the prioritized zoonotic disease list. Representatives from the different One Health sectors serve as neutral, trained facilitators to assist in disease prioritization. Advisors from different organizations that participate in zoonotic disease work are brought in to lend their expertise to voting members as well as to provide post-workshop support. Through including these specific people, the overall process is relevant to the local context. Additionally, the various steps that are involved in developing the priority zoonotic disease list include using local data to assess zoonotic disease burden. The OHZDP workshops result in a full formal report for the country or region²⁷.

Project Purpose

To support the preparation for these OHZDP workshops, CDC's One Health Office maintains a global zoonotic disease burden database and has initiated the development of regional zoonotic disease databases to support locations conducting OHZDP workshops and to identify gaps in zoonotic disease burden. The goal of this project was to develop a regionspecific zoonotic disease burden database for Central America for the CDC One Health Office's OHZDP Process. This database will serve as a resource for countries within the region to make informed and data-driven decisions on zoonotic disease burden in Central America when prioritizing zoonotic diseases through the OHZDP Process.

Chapter 2: Methods

In order to develop a region-specific zoonotic disease burden database for Central America, there were multiple components that needed to be considered before the data collection process could occur. The first step was to identify which zoonotic diseases were going to be included in the database. The next step was to identify which variables were going to be searched for each zoonotic disease. Once these two steps were concluded, the literature and data review processes were undertaken. Below are the methods for each step of the development of this Central America Zoonotic Disease Burden Database.

Zoonotic Disease Selection

A list of 45 zoonotic diseases was compiled using zoonotic disease lists considered for prioritization from previous OHZDP workshops²⁸. Zoonotic diseases from these lists were cross checked for the Central America region by conducting literature searches in PubMed and Scopus. The initial search terms used included "zoonotic diseases AND Central America". Specified searches were also conducted and used the string: ((Disease Terms)) AND ((Central America)). The literature search criteria included English language publications from the last 10 years. Articles were scanned for zoonotic diseases most relevant to the region. The final list is described in Table 1.

Database Development

The CDC One Health Office for global zoonotic disease burden database, which is built in Microsoft Excel[™], was adapted for the specific Central American region. The database was formatted to collect publicly available zoonotic disease data from the countries of Belize, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, and Panama. Data for the following variables was included for each of the zoonotic diseases identified in these countries: human prevalence, human incidence, human mortality, animal prevalence, animal incidence, animal mortality, last documented human outbreak, and last documented animal outbreak. The database template that was used is provided in the Appendix (Table 1).

Data and Literature Review

Database cells were filled with appropriate zoonotic disease-specific information for humans and animals in the Central America region through data and literature reviews of public sources. Data was collected from October 15, 2021 through January 9, 2022. Information was gathered from the CDC, the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO), the World Health Organization (WHO) as well as the following sources to identify as much data in as many variables as possible.

- Global Health Data Exchange Global Burden of Disease Results Tool <u>http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-results-tool</u>
- World Organization for Animal Health World Health Information System
 <u>https://wahis.oie.int/#/home</u>
- Food and Agriculture of the United States Global Animal Disease Information System
 <u>https://empres-i.review.fao.org/#/</u>
- International Society for Infectious Diseases ProMEd <u>https://promedmail.org/</u>
- 5. Global Infectious Disease and Epidemiology Network

https://app-gideononline-com.proxy.library.emory.edu/start

After reviewing the above sources, literature searches were conducted in PubMed, Scopus, the Virtual Health Library Regional Portal, and the World Organisation for Animal Health's Documentary Portal to fill in any remaining gaps. The Virtual Health Library Regional Portal was used to find potential sources in Spanish. Articles searched among these databases were limited to the last 10 years with no language filter. Initial search strings included ((Disease Terms)) AND ((Country or Region)) AND ((variables)). For example, ((Anthrax)) AND ((Costa Rica)) AND ((mortality)). Resulting articles were reviewed by conducting a title and abstract screen to determine relevancy of information. Information from these articles were included if they included information on any of the variables previously listed. If there was a lack of relevant results, more specific search strings were used. A list of sample search strings can be found below. If after searching through the resources and the literature and no information was found for a certain variable it was defined as "no data identified" in the cell.

Sample Search Strings

((Disease terms)) AND ((Country)) AND ((human)) AND ((prevalence) or (incidence))

((Disease terms)) AND ((Country)) AND ((human)) AND ((mortality))

((Disease terms)) AND (Country)) AND ((animal) OR (domestic animal) OR (livestock)
OR (cattle) OR (bovine) OR (poultry) OR (chicken) OR (sheep) OR (goat) OR (bovine)
OR (caprine) OR (pig) OR (swine) OR (porcine) OR (horse) OR (equine) OR (dog) OR
(canid) OR (canine) OR (cat) OR (feline) OR (felid) OR (companion animal) OR (pet))
OR ((wildlife) OR (wild animal) OR (feral) OR (exotic) OR (rodent) OR (bird) OR
(avian) OR (fish) OR (bats) OR (primate)) AND ((incidence) OR (prevalence))

((Disease terms)) AND (Country)) AND ((animal) OR (domestic animal) OR (livestock) OR (cattle) OR (bovine) OR (poultry) OR (chicken) OR (sheep) OR (goat) OR (bovine) OR (caprine) OR (pig) OR (swine) OR (porcine) OR (horse) OR (equine) OR (dog) OR (canid) OR (canine) OR (cat) OR (feline) OR (felid) OR (companion animal) OR (pet)) OR ((wildlife) OR (wild animal) OR (feral) OR (exotic) OR (rodent) OR (bird) OR (avian) OR (fish) OR (bats) OR (primate)) AND ((mortality))

((Disease terms)) AND ((Country)) AND ((human)) AND ((outbreak) OR (epidemic))

((Disease terms)) AND (Country)) AND ((animal) OR (domestic animal) OR (livestock)
OR (cattle) OR (bovine) OR (poultry) OR (chicken) OR (sheep) OR (goat) OR (bovine)
OR (caprine) OR (pig) OR (swine) OR (porcine) OR (horse) OR (equine) OR (dog) OR
(canid) OR (canine) OR (cat) OR (feline) OR (felid) OR (companion animal) OR (pet))
OR ((wildlife) OR (wild animal) OR (feral) OR (exotic) OR (rodent) OR (bird) OR
(avian) OR (fish) OR (bats) OR (primate)) AND ((outbreak) OR (epidemic))

Citing Data Available

Throughout the literature review process, data from both gray and published literature were included in the database. Data points were cited using American Psychological Association (APA) style. In-text format was used in individual cells while full citations were included in a separate column. If duplicate articles were found across sources, they were cited from the source in which they were first identified. It was necessary to cite and reference each data value so that future users of the database can identify what is most important for their local context.

Country Vignettes

After the database was finalized, data and their information sources were reviewed and summarized across each disease, variable, and country. General trends for the entire database were indicated. Country specific profiles were developed highlighting gaps in data and the number of articles found through literature searches.

Chapter 3: Results

Zoonotic Diseases Included for Central America

The Central America Zoonotic Disease Burden Database included 45 zoonotic diseases (Table 1). This zoonotic disease list included 17 bacterial diseases, 14 viral diseases, 10 parasitic diseases, 3 fungal diseases, and 1 caused by prions. Table 1: Zoonotic Disease List

Zoonotic Disease	Etiologic Agent
Bacteria	
Anthrax	Bacillus anthracis
Bartonellosis	Bartonella spp.
Borreliosis	Borellia spp.
Brucellosis	Brucella abortus, Brucella melitensis, Brucella suis
Campylobacteriosis	Campylobacter jejuni, Campylobacter psittaci
Colibacillosis	Escherichia coli
Ehrlichiosis	Ehrlichia spp.
Leptospirosis	Leptospira spp.
Listeriosis	Listeria monocytogenes
Q fever	Coxiella burnetii
Rickettsiosis	Rickettsia africae, Rickettsia aeschlimanni, Rickettsia conori
Salmonellosis	Salmonella spp.
Typhus (endemic)	Rickettsia typhi
Typhus (epidemic)	Rickettsia prowazekii
Typhus (scrub)	Orientia tsutsugamushi
Yersiniosis	Yersinia enterocolitica
Zoonotic Tuberculosis	Mycobacterium bovis
Viruses	
Avian Influenza	Influenza A virus
Chikungunya	Chikungunya virus
Dengue	Dengue virus
Eastern Equine Encephalitis	Eastern equine encephalitis virus
Hantavirus	Hantavirus
Hepatitis E	Hepatitis E virus
Rabies	Rabies virus
COVID-19	SARS-CoV-2
Swine influenza	Influenza A virus
Venezuelan Equine Encephalitis	Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus
Western Equine Encephalitis	Western equine encephalitis virus
West Nile Fever	West Nile virus
Yellow Fever	Yellow fever virus
Zika	Zika virus
Parasites/Protozoa	

Chaga's Disease	Trypanosoma cruzi
Cryptosporidiosis	Cryptosporidium spp.
Cysticercosis	Taenia saginatum, Taenia solium
Echinococcosis	Echinococcosis
Fascioliasis	Fasciola hepatica
Giardiasis	Giardia lamblia
Leishmaniasis	Leishmania spp.
Toxocariasis	Toxocara canis, Toxocara cati
Toxoplasmosis	Toxoplasma gondii
Trichinosis	Trichinella spp.
Fungi	
Coccidioidomycosis	Coccidioides spp.
Cryptococcosis	Cryptococcus neoformans, Cryptococcus gattii
Histoplasmosis	Histoplasma capsulatum
Prions	
Bovine spongiform encephalopathy	Prions

Central America Zoonotic Disease Burden Database

Central America

There was a total of 2,160 cells within the database. Data were found for 387 (18%) cells across the database. In general, public data across the diseases and variables of interest were lacking. Zoonotic diseases that resulted in no data identified across all variables are described in country vignettes below and are summarized in Table 2. The majority of data identified came from GIDEON, PAHO, ProMEd and GHDx. The number of data points for each country by source are included in Appendix: Tables 2-8. Human prevalence and incidence data made up most of the database, along with human mortality data. Estimates for human prevalence, human incidence, and human mortality were found for hepatitis E, rabies, yellow fever, zika, Chaga's disease, cysticercosis, leishmaniasis, and dengue from GHDx for most countries. Zoonotic diseases that had the most recent and available human data included chikungunya, dengue, SARS-CoV-2, and zika. Animal mortality data was only found for 2 countries for different

zoonotic diseases and was at least 5 years old. Data collected for last documented outbreaks were sporadic and a majority was only present on the human side.

<u>Belize</u>

After searching the data available for Belize, no data were identified across all variables for the following zoonotic diseases: borreliosis, bovine spongiform encephalopathy, coccidioidomycosis, colibacillosis, cryptococcosis, cryptosporidiosis, echinococcosis, ehrlichiosis, fascioliasis, hantavirus, listeriosis, Q fever, typhus (endemic, epidemic, and scrub), and western equine encephalitis.

There were no zoonotic diseases that resulted in the identification of data across all variables for Belize.

There was a total of 3 articles found through PubMed that provided data appropriate for the variables of interest.

Costa Rica

After searching the data available for Costa Rica, no data were identified across all variables for the following zoonotic diseases: avian influenza, bovine spongiform encephalopathy, cryptococcosis, cryptosporidiosis, echinococcosis, Q fever, trichinosis, typhus (epidemic and scrub), western equine encephalitis, yersiniosis, and zoonotic tuberculosis. Rabies was the only disease that included data across all variables for Costa Rica. There was a total of 12 articles found through PubMed that provided data appropriate for the variables of interest.

<u>El Salvador</u>

After searching the data available for El Salvador, no data were identified across all variables for the following zoonotic diseases: bartonellosis, borreliosis, bovine spongiform

encephalopathy, campylobacteriosis, coccidioidomycosis, colibacillosis, cryptococcosis, cryptosporidiosis, echinococcosis, ehrlichiosis, fascioliasis, hantavirus, Q fever, rickettsiosis, toxocariasis, trichinosis, typhus (endemic, epidemic, and scrub), Venezuelan equine encephalitis, western equine encephalitis, yersiniosis, and zoonotic tuberculosis.

There were no zoonotic diseases that resulted in the identification of data across all variables for El Salvador.

There was a total of 3 articles found through PubMed that provided data appropriate for the variables of interest.

<u>Guatemala</u>

After searching the data available for Guatemala, no data were identified across all variables for the following zoonotic diseases: borreliosis, bovine spongiform encephalopathy coccidioidomycosis, Eastern equine encephalitis, echinococcosis, ehrlichiosis, fascioliasis, hantavirus, listeriosis, Q fever, toxocariasis, trichinosis, typus (endemic and scrub), West Nile fever, western equine encephalitis, yersiniosis, and zoonotic tuberculosis, in searches for Guatemala.

There were no zoonotic diseases that resulted in the identification of data across all variables for Guatemala.

There was a total of 9 articles found through PubMed that provided data appropriate for the variables of interest.

<u>Honduras</u>

After searching the data available for Honduras, no data were identified across all variables for the following zoonotic diseases: avian influenza, bartonellosis, borreliosis, bovine spongiform encephalopathy, campylobacteriosis, coccidioidomycosis, colibacillosis, eastern equine encephalitis, echinococcosis, ehrlichiosis, fascioliasis, hantavirus, listeriosis, Q fever, rickettsiosis, toxoplasmosis, trichinosis, typhus (endemic, epidemic and scrub), West Nile fever, western equine encephalitis, and yersiniosis.

There were no zoonotic diseases that resulted in the identification of data across all variables for Honduras.

There was a total of 7 articles found through PubMed that provided data appropriate for the variables of interest.

<u>Nicaragua</u>

After searching the data available for Nicaragua, no data were identified across all variables for the following zoonotic diseases: avian influenza, bartonellosis, borreliosis, bovine spongiform encephalopathy campylobacteriosis, coccidioidomycosis, colibacillosis, cryptococcosis, eastern equine encephalitis, echinococcosis, fascioliasis, hantavirus, toxocariasis, trichinosis, typhus (endemic, epidemic and scrub), West Nile fever, western equine encephalitis, yersiniosis, and zoonotic tuberculosis.

There were no zoonotic diseases that resulted in the identification of data across all variables for Nicaragua.

There was a total of 14 articles found through PubMed that provided data appropriate for the variables of interest.

<u>Panama</u>

After searching the data available for Panama, no data were identified across all variables for the following zoonotic diseases: avian influenza, bartonellosis, borreliosis, bovine spongiform encephalopathy, campylobacteriosis, coccidioidomycosis, colibacillosis, cryptococcosis, echinococcosis, fascioliasis, listeriosis, trichinosis, typhus (endemic and epidemic), western equine encephalitis, and yersiniosis.

There were no zoonotic diseases that resulted in the identification of data across all variables for Panama.

There was a total of 15 articles found through PubMed that provided data appropriate for the variables of interest.

Zoonotic Disease	Belize	Costa Rica	El Salvador	Guatemala	Honduras	Nicaragua	Panama
Bartonellosis							
Borreliosis							
Campylobacteriosis							
Colibacillosis							
Ehrlichiosis							
Listeriosis							
Q fever							
Typhus (endemic)							
Typhus (epidemic)							
Typhus (scrub)							
Yersiniosis							
Zoonotic Tuberculosis							
Avian influenza							
Eastern equine encephalitis							
Hantavirus							
Venezuelan equine encephalitis							
Western equine encephalitis							
West Nile fever							
Cryptosporidiosis							
Echinococcosis							
Fascioliasis							
Toxocariasis							
Trichinosis							
Coccidioidomycosis							
Cryptococcosis							
Bovine spongiform encephalopathy							

Table 2: List of zoonotic diseases with no available data across all variables by country

Data identified

No data identified

Literature Searches

There were 54 articles that were included in the database from PubMed. PubMed was the initial search engine used. Some of those articles contained data points for multiple countries, diseases, or variables. After performing literature searches through other search engines, duplicate or no new relevant articles were found. Duplicates were marked as being drawn from PubMed. While also conducting literature searches, repeat articles were found that were referenced in GIDEON and ProMed. Those were counted as being sourced from GIDEON or ProMed rather than PubMed.

Utilizing specified search strings resulted in notable narrowing of appropriate articles. For example, a search of (Costa Rica) in PubMed yielded 5,202 resulting articles limited to the last 10 years. A search of (leptospirosis) in PubMed gave 3,123 articles limited to the last 10 years. Solely searching (human prevalence) limited to the last 10 years gave 1,393,084 articles. Searching ((Costa Rica) and (leptospirosis)) resulted in 10 articles limited to the last 10 years. A search of ((Costa Rica) and (leptospirosis)) resulted in 10 articles limited to the last 10 years. A search of ((Costa Rica) and (leptospirosis) and (human prevalence)) gave 7 results. Three of those 7 articles had information relevant to this zoonotic disease burden database. The same search string used in Scopus resulted in 3 articles, 2 of which were repeated from PubMed and 1 that was provided in GIDEON. In searching the Virtual Health Library Regional Portal with the same search string, 6 articles were found. All 6 of those articles were repeated in PubMed.

Chapter 4: Discussion

The aim of this project was to create a zoonotic disease burden database for Central America that can be utilized to support the CDC's One Health Office OHZDP workshops to assess the burden of zoonotic diseases in Central America. While a database was produced, the scarcity of publicly available data for the region created a major limitation and made it difficult to properly assess the actual zoonotic disease burden within the region. For zoonotic diseases and variables where no data were identified, it cannot be determined whether the zoonotic disease is not circulating in the region or country, if surveillance is not being conducted for those zoonotic diseases, or if the data is just not publicly available.

Another important limitation is that the data search did not include a comprehensive search of all Spanish language publications. Spanish is the official language for all seven countries in Central America region. Not all relevant surveys, case reports, clusters, or outbreaks related to One Health and published in Spanish in national and/or regional journals were available to our efforts to compile this database.

However, there are some relevant inferences that can be made about the zoonotic disease data identified for Central America. It is evident that routine surveillance on the human side for chikungunya, dengue, SARS-CoV-2, and zika does occur in the Central American region. The database does not provide information about completeness of surveillance for these diseases in each country. Reports are published through PAHO on a weekly basis for chikungunya, dengue, and zika²⁹⁻³¹. Currently, SARS-CoV-2 data is being reported daily ³². The number of cases, incidence rates, number of deaths, and last documented outbreaks in humans were found in each country for those zoonotic diseases from these PAHO reports.

In terms of the quality of data found for other zoonotic diseases, concrete statistical values were limited. Human prevalence and incidence data mostly included seroprevalence surveys of specific populations rather than general prevalence or incidence rates for the country. While these seroprevalences of specific populations were included in the database when available, this data is not generalizable to the overall population because it is necessary to consider the context of the study population³³. For example, in Panama the seroprevalence of

spotted fever group rickettsiosis was found to be 29-31% in people from rural areas³⁴. If a similar seroprevalence survey was undertaken for people from a more urban environment, it would likely be lower due to the anticipated less frequent exposure to tick bites. When human mortality data was identified, it was usually presented as number of deaths as opposed to a mortality or fatality rate. In order for this to be used within an OHZDP workshop, data need to be consistently collected across zoonotic diseases. When these types of data are found for use during the OHZDP workshops, participants would then need to conduct separate calculations to enable comparisons across diseases in a standardized manner. The animal prevalence and incidence data contained a range of estimated prevalence, seroprevalence, or case counts for different animal species across countries depending on methods of study.

The irregularity of the data identified for this database is concerning when these data points should ideally be standardized for the OHZDP workshops. Without further information about the status of these zoonotic diseases in Central America, it would be difficult to rely on this database for the OHZDP consultative end evidence-based decision-making processes. On a larger scale, this database identified important gaps in the publication of surveillance data on animals with zoonotic diseases in the region. The paucity of publicly available data for the animal populations in the region suggests the absence of active surveillance for zoonotic diseases in animals among the various countries in the region. This lack of important information could lead to a failure to identify zoonotic disease outbreaks among animals which could eventually spread into the human population.

Another aspect highlighted by this database is the scarcity of data for the neglected tropical zoonoses included in our disease list. There are currently twenty different neglected tropical diseases recognized by the World Health Organization. Those evaluated in this database included Chaga's disease, coccidioidomycosis, chikungunya, cryptococcosis, cysticercosis, dengue, echinococcosis, fascioliasis, histoplasmosis, leishmaniasis and rabies. The majority of these diseases yielded little to no data. Neglected zoonoses disproportionately affect impoverished communities whose proximity to animals and lack of access to adequate healthcare leaves them particularly vulnerable to these diseases³⁵. Continuing to ignore the surveillance of these zoonotic diseases in both human and animal populations can further contribute to health inequity in impoverished populations.

Ultimately, it is important to address the findings from this database in the context of the current SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. It is well known that influenza A viruses have the potential to cause pandemics. While there is influenza surveillance ongoing in Central America with weekly influenza case counts available through FluNet, this site does not include information on human mortality or any animal variables. As stated earlier, the absence of zoonotic disease data for animal variables could result in missing influenza outbreaks that can affect the human population. The current influenza data maintained in FluNet is beneficial but leaves gaps among variables. These gaps can be detrimental to zoonotic disease detection, monitoring, and response in the countries in the region as well as other parts of the world. Human disease-specific mortality data is necessary to understand the severity of a disease within a population and to inform appropriate public health interventions. There is evidence to suggest that co-infection of influenza and SARS-CoV-2 can result in higher mortality³⁶. In order to effectively monitor this in Central America, baseline human mortality data for influenza is needed. Co-infection of coccidioidomycosis and SARS-CoV-2 has also been of concern. It is reasonable to speculate that those who have pulmonary coccidiomycosis are predisposed to severe SARS-CoV-2 resulting from more extensive lung damage by the convergence of these two separate pathogens³⁷.

Another concern is that SARS-CoV-2 may reactivate coccidioidomycosis infection in some patients³⁷. A recommended treatment for SARS-CoV-2 infection, dexamethasone, has been found to increase the risk of severe coccidioidomycosis and other pulmonary infections³⁷. It is important for physicians to have a sense of awareness resulting from this information when diagnosing and treating patients who are also at risk of coccidioidomycosis. The minimal data available for coccidioidomycosis throughout countries in Central America is unsettling because it limits the ability to properly evaluate the current state of coccidioidomycosis infection in the region. Since SARS-CoV-2 is postulated to potentially to amplify pulmonary coccidioidomycosis, data across the selected variables are particularly necessary to identify coccidioidomycosis outbreaks so that informed prevention and mitigation measures can be put in place.

Recommendations

The findings of this search and creation of the database should be made available to facilitate OHZDP workshops in Central American countries, and respective health and agriculture ministries to help identify any other relevant data that have not been made publicly available. It is possible that gaps in the database are solely because surveillance data for these zoonotic diseases are not publicly available. By reaching out to individual health and agriculture ministries, other data can be identified and validated for the creation of a more complete database that will enable a better zoonotic disease prioritization process. In addition, future efforts to compile available One Health information for the central American region should include searches of Spanish language publications.

If, after these consultations are held, we confirm the absence of surveillance for these zoonotic diseases, Central American health and agriculture ministries can be exhorted to

routinely collect and analyze zoonotic disease surveillance data. PAHO can provide guidance and leadership, in collaboration with subject matter experts from CDC's One Health Office, the Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists, FAO, and other key stakeholders. In general, we have uncovered the important surveillance gaps that should be addressed to improve zoonotic disease surveillance and interventions in animals and humans across the region. Ongoing surveillance should continue for chikungunya, dengue, SARS-CoV-2, and zika on the humans but should be expanded to animals as well. During the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, there should be enhanced monitoring of influenza, coccidiomycosis, and other airborne zoonotic diseases in this region to identify and mitigate potential outbreaks.

The Future of One Health in Central America

Overall, the database indicates that Central American countries are taking steps to maintain surveillance for some zoonotic diseases. Implementing a One Health approach would necessitate increases and improvements in country-specific and regional zoonotic disease monitoring and application of appropriate prevention strategies to decrease the incidence, morbidity, and mortality associated with these diseases. Honduras and El Salvador have already begun collaborating with CDC's One Health Office on the interest in conducting an OHZDP processes which is promising for the outlook of One Health in the region³⁸. As more countries in the Central America region recognize the value of One Health and make it a priority, the health of populations will improve.

References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021, July 1). *Zoonotic Diseases*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/basics/zoonotic-diseases.html
- 2. Taylor, L. H., Latham, S. M., & Woolhouse, M. E. (2001). Risk factors for human disease emergence. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences*, 356(1411), 983–989. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2001.0888
- Rahman, M. T., Sobur, M. A., Islam, M. S., Ievy, S., Hossain, M. J., El Zowalaty, M. E., Rahman, A. M. M. T., & Ashour, H. M. (2020). Zoonotic Diseases: Etiology, impact, and Control. *Microorganisms*, 8(9), 1405. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8091405
- 4. Bae, S.-E., & Son, H. S. (2011). Classification of viral zoonosis through receptor pattern analysis. *BMC Bioinformatics*, *12*(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-12-96</u>
- 5. Chomel, B. B., & Sun, B. (2011). Zoonoses in the Bedroom. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, *17*(2), 167-172. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1702.101070.
- Kruse, H., Kirkemo, A., & Handeland, K. (2004). Wildlife as Source of Zoonotic Infections. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 10(12), 2067-2072. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1012.040707.
- 7. Jones, K. E., Patel, N. G., Levy, M. A., Storeygard, A., Balk, D., Gittleman, J. L., & Daszak, P. (2008). Global trends in emerging infectious diseases. *Nature*, 451(7181), 990–993. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06536</u>
- Thompson, R. C., & Polley, L. (2014). Parasitology and one health. *International journal for parasitology. Parasites and wildlife*, 3(3), A1–A2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijppaw.2014.09.002</u>
- Aguirre, A. A. (2017). Changing patterns of emerging zoonotic diseases in wildlife, domestic animals, and humans linked to biodiversity loss and globalization. *ILAR Journal*, 58(3), 315–318. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar/ilx035</u>
- White, R. J., & Razgour, O. (2020). Emerging Zoonotic diseases originating in mammals: A systematic review of effects of anthropogenic land-use change. *Mammal Review*, 50(4), 336–352. https://doi.org/10.1111/mam.12201
- Allen, T., Murray, K. A., Zambrana-Torrelio, C., Morse, S. S., Rondinini, C., Di Marco, M., Breit, N., Olival, K. J., & Daszak, P. (2017). Global hotspots and correlates of emerging zoonotic diseases. *Nature Communications*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00923-8

- 12. Meslin F. X. (2006). Impact of zoonoses on human health. *Veterinaria italiana*, 42(4), 369–379.
- Christou, L. (2011). The global burden of bacterial and viral zoonotic infections. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, *17*(3), 326–330. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2010.03441.x
- 14. World Bank. 2012. People, Pathogens and Our Planet: The Economics of One Health. Washington, DC. © World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/11892 License: CC BY 3.0 IGO.
- ANGULO, A. B., NUNNERY, J. A., BAIR, H. D., & WINT, W. (2004). Antimicrobial resistance in zoonotic enteric pathogens. *Revue Scientifique Et Technique De L'OIE*, 23(2), 485–496. https://doi.org/10.20506/rst.23.2.1499
- 16. A, B., YM, M., de, L. J., A, M., M, D. R. v. B. H., RA, K., . . . MWMM, R. (2004). Avian Flu Epidemic 2003: Public health consequences. Executive summary. In *Beleidssamenvatting Vogelpest Epidemie 2003:Gevolgen voor de volksgezondheid*: Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieu RIVM.
- 17. Park, H., Chun, M. S., & Joo, Y. (2020). Traumatic Stress of Frontline Workers in Culling Livestock Animals in South Korea. *Animals : an open access journal from MDPI*, 10(10), 1920. https://doi.org/10.3390/ani10101920
- Ozili, Peterson K and Arun, Thankom, Spillover of COVID-19: Impact on the Global Economy (March 27, 2020). <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3562570</u>
- Akbulaev, Nurkhodzha and Mammadov, Ilkin and Aliyev, Vasif, Economic Impact of COVID-19 (July 13, 2020). SYLWAN, 164(5) ISI Indexed, May 2020. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3649813</u>
- 20. World Bank Group. (2020, June 8). *The Global Economic Outlook during the COVID-19* pandemic: A changed world. World Bank. Retrieved January 4, 2022, from <u>https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2020/06/08/the-global-economic-outlook-</u> <u>during-the-covid-19-pandemic-a-changed-world</u>
- 21. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2016, October 25). *History*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/basics/history/index.html
- 22. Global Reach Internet Productions, L. L. C.- A. (n.d.). *What is one health? one health commission*. What is One Health? One Health Commission. Retrieved January 4, 2022, from https://www.onehealthcommission.org/en/why_one_health/

- 23. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018, November 5). One health basics. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved January 4, 2022, from https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/basics/index.html
- 24. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). Zoonotic disease programs for Enhancing Global Health Security - volume 23, supplement-december 2017 - emerging infectious diseases journal - CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved January 4, 2022, from <u>https://wwwnc.cdc.gov/eid/article/23/13/17-0544_article</u>
- 25. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, February 3). *CDC's One Health Office: Who we are*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved December 29, 2021, from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/who-we-are/index.html</u>
- 26. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, February 3). *CDC's One Health Office: What we do*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved December 29, 2021, from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/what-we-do/index.html</u>
- 27. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, February 3). One Health Zoonotic Disease Prioritization Process Overview. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved December 29, 2021, from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/what-we-do/zoonotic-disease-prioritization/fact-sheet.html</u>
- 28. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021, May 18). *Completed OHZDP workshops*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov/onehealth/what-we-do/zoonotic-disease-prioritization/completed-workshops.html</u>
- 29. Gutiérrez, L. A. (2021). Paho/WHO Data weekly report: Paho/who. Pan American Health Organization / World Health Organization. <u>https://www3.paho.org/data/index.php/en/mnu-topics/chikv-en/550-chikv-weekly-en.html</u>
- 30. Gutiérrez, L. A. (2021). Paho/who data dengue cases: Paho/WHO. Pan American Health Organization / World Health Organization. <u>https://www3.paho.org/data/index.php/en/mnu-topics/indicadores-dengue-en/dengue-nacional-en/252-dengue-pais-ano-en.html</u>
- 31. Gutiérrez, L. A. (2019, January 17). *Paho/who data reporte de casos acumulados: OPS/OMS*. Pan American Health Organization / World Health Organization. <u>https://www3.paho.org/data/index.php/es/?option=com_content&view=article&id=528%</u> <u>3Azika-weekly-es&Itemid=353</u>
- 32. Coronavirus disease (covid-19) pandemic. PAHO/WHO | Pan American Health Organization. (n.d.). <u>https://www.paho.org/en/topics/coronavirus-infections/coronavirus-disease-covid-19-pandemic</u>

- McConnell, D., Hickey, C., Bargary, N., Trela-Larsen, L., Walsh, C., Barry, M., & Adams, R. (2021). Understanding the Challenges and Uncertainties of Seroprevalence Studies for SARS-CoV-2. International journal of environmental research and public health, 18(9), 4640. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18094640</u>
- 34. Bermúdez, C., & Troyo, A. (2018). A review of the genus Rickettsia in Central America. Research and reports in tropical medicine, 9, 103–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/RRTM.S16095</u>
- 35. Welburn, S. C., Beange, I., Ducrotoy, M. J., & Okello, A. L. (2015). The neglected zoonoses—the case for integrated control and advocacy. *Clinical Microbiology and Infection*, 21(5), 433–443. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmi.2015.04.011</u>
- 36. Alosaimi, B., Naeem, A., Hamed, M.E. et al. Influenza co-infection associated with severity and mortality in COVID-19 patients. *Virol J* 18, 127 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12985-021-01594-0</u>
- Heaney, A. K., Head, J. R., Broen, K., Click, K., Taylor, J., Balmes, J. R....Remais, J. V. (2021). Coccidioidomycosis and COVID-19 Co-Infection, United States, 2020. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, 27(5), 1266-1273. <u>https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2705.204661</u>.
- 38. Advancing One Health in Central America. TEPHINET. (2021, November 3). Retrieved March 3, 2022, from https://www.tephinet.org/advancing-one-health-in-central-america

Appendix

Table 1: Zoonotic Disease Database Template

	Epidemic/Pandemic Potential										
		Central America									
			No. of the second se								
Questions	Haman prevalence and/or incidence in the Region	Human prevalence and/or incidence in Belize	Human prevalence and/or incidence in Costa Rica	Human prevalence and/or incidence in El Salvador	Human prevalence and/or incidence in Guatemala	Human prevalence and/or incidence in Honduras	Human prevalence and/for incidence in Nicaragua	Humen prevalence and/or incidence in Panama			
Answers											
Bocteria											
Anthra											
Bartoneliosis											
Borneliosis											
D Fuckel Coarse											
Campytobacteriosis											
Enrichiosis											
Leptospirosis											
Listeriosis											
Q fever											
Rickettsiasis											
Semonellosia											
Typhus (endemic)	2										
Typhus (upidemic)	-										
Typeus (scrub) Magelolicele											
Zoonatic Tuberaikain											
Wruses											
Avian Influenza											
Chikungunya											
Dengue											
Eastern Equine Encephalitis											
Hentevirus											
Hepatitis E											
Rabies											
SARS-CoV-2	2										
Swine influenza											
venetuelan Equine Enceptiantis											
Western Equine Encephantis											
Valina Faver											
Zika											
Parasites/Protoma											
Chaga's Disease											
Cryatosporidiosis											
Cysticercools											
Echinococcosta		e									
Fascolasis											
Glarchasis	2										
Leistmeniasis	2										
Toxocatasis											
Toxopiasmoss											
Europe -											
Provide States and a second se											
Crystiscossaels											
Histopiasmosis											
Prions											
Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy	9										

Tables 2-5: Data value counts by source

Belize									
	Human Prevalence-Incidence	Human Mortality	Animal Prevalence-Incidence	Animal Mortality	Last Documented Human Outbreak	Last Documented Animal Outbreak	Total		
GIDEON	7	1	1	0		9	9	27	
ProMed	0	0	1	0		0	6	7	
GHDx	12	8	0	0		0	0	20	
PAHO	6	4	0	0		2	0	12	
Literature Searches	4	0	1	0		0	0	5	
No data identified	30	34	42	45		36	35	222	

	Costa Rica									
	Human Prevalence-Incidence	Human Mortality	Animal Prevalence-Incidence	Animal Mortality	Last Documented Human Outbreak	Last Documented Animal Outbreak	Total			
GIDEON	16	8	19	0		7	3	53		
ProMed	0	0	0	0		5	3	8		
GHDx	12	8	0	0		0	0	20		
РАНО	7	4	0	0		2	0	13		
Literature Searches	7	1	7	2		1	0	18		
No data identified	22	30	24	44		34	42	196		

El Salvador								
	Human Prevalence-Incidence	Human Mortality	Animal Prevalence-Incidence	Animal Mortality	Last Documented Human Outbreak	Last Documented Animal Outbreak	Tota	al
GIDEON	12	3	3	0		7	1	26
ProMed	0	C	0	0		3	2	5
GHDx	12	. 8	0	0		0	0	20
PAHO	6	4	0	0		2	0	12
Literature Searches	3	C	0	0		0	0	3
No data identified	27	33	42	45		37	42	226

Guatemala									
	Human Prevalence-Incidence	Human Mortality	Animal Prevalence-Incidence	Animal Mortality	Last Documented Human Outbreak	Last Documented Animal Outbreak	Total	í	
GIDEON	12	2	7	0		9	1	31	
ProMed	0	0	0	0		2	1	3	
GHDx	13	8	0	0		0	0	21	
РАНО	6	4	0	0		2	0	12	
Literature Searches	8	1	. 3	0		0	0	12	
No data identified	25	33	36	45		36	43	218	

Tables 6-8: Data value counts by source

Honduras								
	Human Prevalence-Incidence	Human Mortality	Animal Prevalence-Incidence	Animal Mortality	Last Documented Human Outbreak	Last Documented Animal Outbreak	Tof	tal
GIDEON	9	2	1	0		6	3	21
ProMed	0	0	0	1		1	4	6
GHDx	13	8	0	0		0	0	21
PAHO	6	4	0	0		2	0	12
Literature Searches	6	1	0	0		0	0	7
No data identified	28	33	44	44		39	40	228

Nicaragua								
	Human Prevalence-Incidence	Human Mortality	Animal Prevalence-Incidence	Animal Mortality	Last Documented Human Outbreak	Last Documented Animal Outbreak	Total	
GIDEON	11	. 3	9	0		6	2	31
ProMed	C) (0 0	0		2	0	2
GHDx	13	8	0	0		0	0	21
РАНО	6	4	• 0	0		2	0	12
Literature Searches	11	. C	2	0		0	2	15
No data identified	26	33	36	45		38	41	219

Panama								
	Human Prevalence-Incidence	Human Mortality	Animal Prevalence-Incidence	Animal Mortality	Last Documented Human Outbreak	Last Documented Animal Outbreak	Tot	tal
GIDEON	15	3	9	0		11	4	42
ProMed	0	0	0	0		4	5	9
GHDx	14	8	0	0		0	0	22
PAHO	5	4	0	0		2	0	11
Literature Searches	7	2	3	0		2	1	15
No data identified	23	33	35	45		32	38	206